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From about 1879 to 1971, the eastward-facing, triple
arched 0l1ld Stone Gate of Chicago Union Stockyards, constructed
of rough faced Lemont limestone and capped with a steeply
pitched roof, served as the main entrance to the famed yards.
Located on Chicago's south side, they were fdunded in 1865 and
served as a host of sorts to over a billion animals destined
for the world's dining tables. Today, the stockyards as well
as the neighboring packing plants, are gone, but the carefully
restored gate is a fitting visual reminder of Chicago's-once
dominant positlon in the meatpacking and stockyard industries.

Chicago's first slaughter houses and stockyards were
located near what is now the city's downtown area. The first
recorded slaughter house was situated on the north bank of the
Chicago River, while the first stock yard was located either
at Madison Street and Ogden Avenue or Cottage Grove Avenue
and 29th Street. After the eastern ralilroads reached Chicago
in 1852, most stockyards were located near thelr terminals.
The city's meatpackers, meanwhile, had concentrated their
activities along the south branch of the Chicago River because
of growing complaints about obnoxious odors and a wish to take
advantage of improved transportation facillties offered by the
Illinois and Michigan Canal.

The desire on the part of livestock dealers, meatpackers,
and railroad men to consolidate Chicago's many stockyards into
one large yard for greater efficiency led to the founding of
the Union Stockyards in 1865. After purchasing the 320-acre
site south of the city, Union Stockyards President Timothy B.
Blackstone, who was also chief executive of the Chlcago, Alton,
and St. Louis Railroad and who represented the large financial
stake in the yards of the railroads, selected his chief
Engineer, Octave Chanute, to lay out the new facility. Although
work was not started until June 1, 1865, Chanute had the
project completed by Christmas Day that same year. At the
time the yards had pens to accomodate 21,000 cattle, 75,000
hogs, 22,000 sheep, and 200 horses. In addition the yards
had hotels, restaurants, and an office building. By 1900 the
yards had grown to encompass. 475 acres and had a capacity for
75,000 cattle, 50,000 sheep, 300,000 hogs, and 5,000 horses as
well as its own bank and post office.

Because most of the early stockyard structures including
its gate, were of wood construction and soon deteriorated,
they were replaced by ones of stone construction in the late
1870's. Daniel H. Burnham and John W. Root designed most
stockyard buildings during this period, and, although it cannot
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The 01d Stone Gate of Chicago Union Stockyards 1s the
most important extant symbol of the American meatpacking and
stockyard industries and the rise of Chicago as one of the
Nation's leading cities.

From the late 1860's until well into the 1950's the
Chicago Union Stockyards and the packinghouses surrounding it
formed "the greatest meat packing center in the world," say
culinary historians Waverly Root and Richard de Rochemogt. In
fact, "the name of Chicago" was '"synonymous with meat." This
development was made possible not only by Chicago's superilor
rail facllitlies but by entrepreneurs like Gustavus Swift,
Philip Armour, and others who established plants here and re-
volutionized the meat packing industry by developing refrige-
rated railroad cars, lmproving meat canning techniques, ex-
tensively utilizing by-products, and increasing plant efficlency.
As a result, "the stockyards of Chicago," says historian
Matthew Josephson, "became the home of a gigantic and rhythm-
ically functioning industry" which "by an ingenious arrangement
of the yards, and division of the labor," rapidly disassembled
livestock.?2

At the same time, the Union Stockyards, according to
historian W. Joseph Grand, represented the 'greatest livestock
market in the world," and as_such, its prices generally pre-
vailed in markets elsewhere.3 Thus, the Chicago yards in-
fluenced the development of the West because they were the
final destination for much of the cattle brought to towns like
Abilene and Dodge City. The Union Stockyards maintained their
dominance well into the 1950's. In 1952, yard officlals

(continued)

1Waverly Root and Richard de Rochemont, Eating in America:
A History (New York, 1976), 206, 210.

2Ma1:1:hew Josephson, The Robber Barons: The Great American @
Capitalists, 1861-1901 (New York, 1962), 285.
3W' Joseph Grand, Illustrated History of the Union Stockyards:

Sketch Book of Fam S (Chicago
7501), 8. ’
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be established irrefutably, they probably drew the plans for
the stone gate as well. At any rate, around 1879 the wooden
gate was replaced by the present stone structure. It and the
guardhouse which was once connected to its south end were
among the few structures which survived the 1934 fire that
almost completely destroyed the stockyards.

The eastward-facing Union Stockyards Gate is constructed
of rough faced Lemont limestone and 1s capped with a steeply
pitched roof covered with oxidized copper sheathing. The
gate, which 1s approximately 50 feet wide, consists of a massive
center section flanked by two smaller wings. The center section
rises to a height of almost 32 feet and has an arched opening
which reaches a height of 17 feet and is almost 16 feet wide.
At one time this opening featured a heavy iron grille, housed
in a slot that runs the full width of the underside of the
arch, that could be used to close 1t. Tall limestone turrets
with conical tops are located near the spring points of the
central arch. At one time these turrets had finials, but these
have either broken off or disintegrated over the years.

On both 1its east and west facades, the gate's central arch
has false triangular gables, which at one time featured elaboa-
rate finials at their highest points. The front (east) gable
features a projecting sculptured limestone steer head. This
bull is said to be "Sherman," who won the grand sweepstakes
at the first American Fat Stock Show and was supposedly named
for John B. Sherman, the man so instrumental in establishing
the Union Stockyards.

The two smaller wings of the gate are asymmetrical and
are about half the height of the segment between them. Their
roofs and decorative detail make them smaller versions of the
central portion. Both feature arched openings, which are 6-
feet wide on the south and 7 1/2 feet on the north. Originally
both arches had hinged iron gates, but today only the southern
arch has this feature.

After the Union Stockyards closed in 1971, much of its
property was purchased for redevelopment as an industrial park.
The developers announced plans to demolish most remaining
structures at the yards, including the old stone gate, which
was to make way for the widening of Exchange Avenue. The city,
however, working through the Commission on Chicago Historical @

(continued)
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and Architectural Landmarks, eventually reached an agreement
with the owners which saved the structure and led to its rest-
oration. In November, 1971, the guardhouse which was connected
to the gate at its south end was demolished, and the stone from
it used to repailr disintegrated blocks in the gate. At the
same time, the gate's raw southern edge was refinished as a
simple rusticated wall, the gatehouse was removed from the
northern wing, all wiring was redone, and the sheet metal roof
replaced with the present oxidized copper one. The area around
the gate was landscaped, trees were planted, replicas of old
street lamps were installed, and original paving bricks from
stockyard pens implanted in those areas not landscaped. Today,
the well-maintained and beautifully landscaped Union Stockyards
Gate, surrounded by splayed Exchange Avenue, presents a sharp
and pleasing contrast with the industrial area surrounding 1t.

Boundary Justification. The boundary of the nomlnated property
includes both the triangular parkway containing the Union Stock-
yards Gate .and another triangular parkway approximately 12 feet
west of it which was once also part of the Union Stockyards.
Presently, it is landscaped and features implanted paving bricks
salvaged from the stockyard pens.

Boundary Description. As described in legal records furnished
by the Commission on Chicago Historical and Architectural
Landmarks and indicated in red on the accompanying maps [(1)
U.S.G.S. 7.5"' Series, I1l., Englewood Quad., 1963, photorevised
1972, and AASLH sketch map, 1977] the property consists of the
two trlangularly shaped parkways located in West boundaries ex-
tended South of South Peoria Street in the East quarter (1/4)
of the Northeast quarter (1/4) of Section Five (5), Township
Thirty-eight North, Range 14, East of the Third Principal
Meridian, Cook County, Illinois.
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estimated that since 1865 some 219 million cattle, 530 million
hogs, 229 million sheep, and 4 million horses--collectively
valued at more than $28 billion--had passed through its gates.

The stockyards also played a vital role in Chicago's
development. According to Grand, "the stockyards have done
more to make Chicago the metropolis of the West and her name
a synonym for almost, preternatural rapidity of growth than
any other industry." Because the yards were not affected by
the 1871 fire and continued to grow, they made it easier for
the city to obtain credit and rebulld, and because Chicago's
economy was based so much on livestock, it withstood the
depression of 1873 better than most large cities. Also the
yards and packinghouses were one of the city's largest employers,
utilizing nearly 33,000 people by 1900 in its daily operations.

From about 1879 to 1971, the eastward-facing, triple-
arched 014 Stone Gate of Chicago Union Stockyards, constructed
of rough faced Lemont limestone and capped with a steeply
pitched roof, served as the main entrance to Chicago's famed
yards, built on the south side beginning in 1865. Over a
billion animals destined for the world's dining tables passed
through this portal. Recently restored and still on its
original site, the gate is now surrounded by a splayed city
street, but it 1s the only remaining historic Union Stockyards
structure. None of the famous packinghouses that once stood
adjacent to the yards survive.

History

Although the Union Stockyards were not established until
1865, Chicago had for some time been developing into an im-
portant livestock marketing and meatpacking center. The city's
first slaughter house was established in 1827 to supply meat to
Fort Dearborn, and the first stockyard appeared in either 1837
or 1848. These early stockyards were actually little more than
taverns that provided pens for dealers who brought thelr live-
stock to the city to trade. At thils time the livestock trade

(continued)
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was largely a seasonal business because of the necessity of
moving the animals on foot to their final destinations.

Chicago's meatpacking and livestock industries received
a major boost when the city's transportation facilities were
improved in the late 1840's and early 1850's. The completion
of the Illinois and Michigan Canal in 1848 connected the
T1llinois River to Lake Michigan by way of the south branch of
the Chicago River, opening a new waterway for shipping. As a
result numerous packing and slaughter houses were constructed
along the south branch. In 1852 the Michigan Central and
Michigan Southern Railroads reached Chicago, giving the city
its first direct rail connections to the east and making it
possible to ship livestock the year round. Within a few years
Chicago had become the focal point for nine railrocad lines, and
around each of these one or more stockyards sprang up complete
with scales, hotels, and other facilitiles.

The Civil War gave additional impetus to Chicago's meat-
packing and livestock enterprises. Many packers in war-
threatened cities like Cincinatti, at the time the Nation's
"Porkopolis," either relocated to or built additional plants
in Chicago. As a result much of the meat for the Union Army
was packed in Chicago, and by 1863 it had surpassed Cincinatti
as the Nation's meat packing center. The needs of the packers,
as well as military orders for live cattle to be shipped near
the front lines where they could be slaughtered when needed,
greatly increased Chicago's livestock traffic. Soon it became
apparent that the city's numerous stockyards were inefficient.
As a result there soon arose, says stockyards historian M. S.
Parkhurst, "a general demand from all elements of the trade
for a new large Unlon Stockyard where the supply of livestock
could be concentrated _and all sellers and buyers could meet
in open competition.”5

John B. Sherman, one of the city's leading livestock
dealers and stockyard owners, took the lead in promoting the
consolidated yard, but most of the financial support for its

(continued)

5M. S. Parkhurst, History of the Yards, 1865-1953
(Chicago, 1953), 12.
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construction came from the nine railroad lines running into
Chicago. The enterprise was chartered on February 13, 1865,

as the Union Stock Yard and Transit Company of Chicago. Its
promoters purchased 320 acres of swampy terrailn south of the

city for $100,000 from former mayor John Wentworth. Construction
started on the site June 1 of that year, and on Christmas Day

the yards were open for busliness.

From the beginning, the Union Stockyards,. which somewhat
resembled a small city with its hotels, restaurants, office
building, bank, and post office as well as livestock pens,
flourished, and it soon held undisputed sway,_says Grand, as
the "greatest livestock market in the world." As such, its
prices generally prevailed in markets elsewhere, giving the
yards much. influence in.the economic development of the Nation's
livestock raising regions. Thus it had an impact on the devel-
opment of the West because Chicago was the final destinatilon
for much of the cattle brought to towns like Abilene and Dodge
City. 1In 1952 yard officials estimated that since 1865 some
219 million cattle, 530 million hogs, 229 million sheep, and
4 million horses--collectively valued at more than $28 billion--
had passed through its gates.

At first there were no packing plants or slaughter houses
at the yards, but within a few years factories began to be
constructed in the area west of the yards, and it eventually
took the name, "Packingtown." As a result Chicago soon sur-
passed Paris, France, and became, says Root and de Rochemont,
"the greatest meat packing center in the world."? By the end
of the 1880's, according to historian Louise Carroll Wade,
"Chicago packinghouse products were being marketed throughout
the world . . . and the city's stockyard was handéing nearly
eight million cattle, sheep, and hogs each year."

Chicago's rise to world dominance in the meat industry
was made possible not only by its superior transportation
facilities but by entrepreneurs like Gustavus Swift, Philip

_ (continued)
6Grand, Illustrated History of the Union Stockyards, 8.

7Root and de Rochemont, Eating in America, 206.
Louise Carroll Wade, "Something More Than Packers," @
Chicago History, II (Fall-Winter, 1973), 224.
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Armour, and others who established plants here and revolutionized
the industry by developing refrigerated railroad cars, improving
meat canning techniques, extensively utilizing by-products, and
increasing plant efficiency. Largely due to their efforts '"the
stockyards of Chicago," says Josephson, "became the home of a
gigantic and rhythmically functioning industry" which,"by an
ingenious arrangement of the yards, and division of the labor,"
rapidly disassembled livestock.?

The Union Stockyards and the packing plants surrounding
it made a vital contribution to Chicago's development as well.
The stockyards, according to Grand, "have done more to make
Chicago the metropolis of the West and her name a synonym for
almost preternatural rapidity of growth than any other industry."lO
Because the area around the yards was unaffected by the 1871
fire and continued to grow, the city found 1t much easier to
obtain credit for rebuilding, and since Chlcago's economy was
based so much on livestock, it withstood the depression of 1873
better than most large cities. Also the yards and packing-
houses were one of the city's largest employers, utilizing
nearly 33,000 people by 1900 in i1ts daily operations.

Although the yards and packinghouses received much adverse
notice as a result of the publication of Upton Sinclair's
somewhat overstated expose The Jungle in 1906, the attendant
publicity soon resulted in higher sanitation standards. Between
1910 and 1925 the stockyards recorded record livestock receipts,
and the packers enjoyed relative prosperity as well. The
depression, however, brought a decline in meat consumption, and
in 1934 the stockyards were almost entirely destroyed by fire.
The yards were soon rebuilt, and the meat industry gradually
began a return to prosperity.

Desplte the fact that the Nation's consumption of meat
continued to rise, the Chicago Union Stockyards began to show
a gradual reduction in livestock receipts after 1940. Then in

(continued)

9Josephson, The Robber Barons, 285.

1OGrand, Illustrated History of the Union Stockyards, 12.
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the 1950's the large packing companies began to shut down
their technologically outmoded plants at the yards in order to
build new facilities nearer the livestock raising areas. As

a direct result a large portion of the yards were closed in
1958. Still, the Union Stockyards continued to show a steady
decline in receipts, due at least in part to an increase in
the Nation's stockyards from 64 to 1929 to 2,300 by 1959, and
the improved highway system coupled with the rise of the
trucking industry which offset Chicago's advantage as a rail
center. In 1970 the stockyards phased out its hog market and
on August 1, 1971, closed down permanently. Two weeks before
the Union Stockyards went out of existence, however, many of-
its former dealers banded together and established the Chicago-
Joliet Livestock Marketing Center, Inc. Thils group purchased
34,5 acres in Joliet nearly 50 miles south of Chicago's Loop,
and on August 2, 1971, they opened a new stockyard.
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